# Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

7-17-2013

# Agrisource v. Johnson Appellant's Brief Dckt. 40340

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal arises from the district court's summary judgment in favor of Agrisource, Inc., determining it had no notice that when Robert Johnson entered into a grain contract he was acting as agent for Neil Brown's corporation, Johnson Grain, Inc.

This appeal followed the district court's denial of Robert Johnson's Motion for Reconsideration and Alternative Motion for Relief.

#### **Course of the Proceedings**

Agrisource filed a Complaint in Cassia County against Neil Brown, his wife, Verlie Brown, and the Browns' corporation, Neil Brown, Inc., (collectively the Browns), alleging breach of contract arising from a grain contract for 50,000 bushels of durum wheat. (*Clerk's Record*, Vol. I, pp. 20-24).

Order changing venue from Cassia County to Bonneville County was entered May 21, 2010. (*Clerk's Record*, Vol. I, p. 1 – Registry entry).

Responding to the Browns' position that Robert Johnson was the real party to the contract, Agrisource and the Browns on January 13, 2011 filed a stipulation allowing Agrisource to file an amended complaint. (*Clerk's Record*, Vol. I, pp. 25-26).

On January 19, 2011 Agrisource filed its Amended Complaint against the Browns and Robert Johnson, his wife Kristine Johnson, and their corporation, Johnson Grain, Inc. (*Clerk's Record*, Vol. I, p. 27-31).

On February 4, 2011 the Johnsons filed an Answer to Agrisource's Amended Complaint and made cross claims against the Browns. (*Clerk's Record*, Vol. I, p. 32).

#### Appellant's Brief - Page 1

On February 24, 2011 the Browns filed their Answer and Crossclaim. (*Clerk's Record*, Vol. I, p. 42). On the same date, the Browns replied to the Johnsons' Crossclaim. (*Clerk's Record*, Vol. I, p. 37).

Trial by jury on all issues was timely requested by the Johnsons and the Browns. (*Clerk's Record*, Vol. I, pp. 32, 42).

The Browns filed for summary judgment against Agrisource's Amended Complaint on December 29, 2011 supported by the Affidavit of Bryan Zollinger. (*Clerk's Record*, Vol. I, p. 78a).

Robert Johnson filed his first affidavit on January 12, 2012. (*Clerk's Record*, Vol. I, p. 79).

The Johnsons filed their Motion for Summary Judgment on February 1, 2012. (*Clerk's Record*, Vol. I, p. 93). A memorandum in support of that motion was filed the same date. (*Clerk's Record*, Vol. I, p. 95).

Together with the earlier filed Affidavit of Robert Johnson, the Johnsons on February 1, 2012 filed the Affidavit of David Smith, and Affidavit of Counsel in support of their motion for summary judgment. (*Clerk's Record*, Vol. I, pp. 110, 112a-112www, 113-138).

The Johnsons filed their Amended Answer, Cross-claim, and Third-party Claim on February 2, 2012. (*Clerk's Record*, Vol. I, p. 139).

Summary judgment in favor of the Browns dismissing Agrisource's Amended Complaint against them was entered February 7, 2012. (*Clerk's Record*, Vol. I, p. 148).

On February 23, 2012 the Browns filed their reply to the Johnsons' Amended Cross-Claim on Third-Party Claim. (*Clerk's Record*, Vol. I, p. 150).

Agrisource filed for summary judgment against the Johnsons on March 5, 2012. (*Clerk's Record*, Vol. I, p. 156). Its memorandum in support of its motion was filed the same date. (*Clerk's Record*, Vol. I, p. 159).

To support its Motion for Summary Judgment, Agrisource filed the Affidavit of Kirk Carpenter and Affidavit of Scott Mallory on March 5, 2012. (*Clerk's Record*, Vol. I, p. 168; Vol. II, p. 228).

Robert Johnson and Kristine Johnson on March 15, 2012 filed their opposition to Agrisource's Motion for Summary Judgment. (*Clerk's Record*, Vol. II, p. 236).

Hearing before the district court on the parties' cross motions for summary judgment was held April 3, 2012. (*Transcript of Hearing, Motion for Summary Judgment*, pp. 1-20).

By memorandum decision and order filed April 6, 2012 the district court granted summary judgment in favor of Agrisource against Robert Johnson and granted summary judgment in favor of Kristine Johnson and Johnson Grain, Inc., against Agrisource. (*Clerk's Record*, Vol. II, p. 242).

The judgment in favor of Agrisource and against Robert Johnson was entered April 17, 2012. (*Clerk's Record*, Vol. II, p. 253).

On April 18, 2012 Robert Johnson filed his first Motion for Reconsideration of the Memorandum Opinion and Order entered April 6, 2012. (*Clerk's Record*, Vol. II, p. 256). In

support of that motion, Robert Johnson filed his Second Affidavit on April 18, 2012. (*Clerk's Record*, Vol. II, p. 259).

Judgment in favor of Kristine Johnson and Johnson Grain, Inc., dismissing Agrisource's claims against them was entered April 20, 2012. (*Clerk's Record*, Vol. II, p. 281).

On May 22, 2012 Johnson filed his reply brief to Agrisource's objection to Johnson's Motion for Reconsideration. (*Clerk's Record*, Vol. I, p. 112zzz).

Hearing on Johnson's Motion for Reconsideration before the district court was held May 25, 2012. (*Transcript of Hearing*, pp. 21-37).

On May 31, 2012 the district court entered its Order on Motion for Reconsideration and Motion to Certify, denying Johnson's motion for reconsideration and granting Agrisource's Motion to Certify its judgment as final. (*Clerk's Record*, Vol. II, p. 283).

On June 14, 2012 judgment was entered in favor of Agrisource and certified as final for purposes of I.R.C.P. 54(b). (*Clerk's Record*, Vol. II, p. 288).

On June 18, 2012 Johnson filed his Second Motion for Reconsideration of the Order Denying Motion for Reconsideration filed May 31, 2012. (*Clerk's Record*, Vol. II, p. 292). Johnson's motion was supported by the Affidavit of Wydell Johnson. (*Clerk's Record*, Vol. II, p. 300).

By Memorandum Decision and Order entered June 28, 2012 the district court ruled on the Browns' Motion for Summary Judgment against Johnson. (*Clerk's Record*, Vol. II, p. 305).

#### Appellant's Brief - Page 4

Hearing on Johnson's Second Motion for Reconsideration before the district court was held August 14, 2012. (*Transcript of Hearing*, pp. 38-75).

On August 21, 2012 the district court filed its Order on Motions for Costs and Attorney Fees pertaining to all parties' motions and objections to costs and fees, and addressing Johnson's Second Motion for Reconsideration. (*Clerk's Record*, Vol. II, p. 314).

Amended Judgment for Agrisource against Johnson, including costs and fees, was entered August 21, 2012. (*Clerk's Record*, Vol. II, p. 312). On the same date, the district court entered judgments of costs and fees in favor of the Browns' against Agrisource, and in favor of Kristine Johnson and Johnson Grain, Inc., against Agrisource. (*Clerk's Record*, Vol. II, p. 322, 324).

On August 28, 2012 the district court entered judgment dismissing the Browns claims against Kristine Johnson and Johnson Grain, Inc. (*Clerk's Record*, Vol. II, p. 326).

Johnson filed his Notice of Appeal on August 29, 2012. (*Clerk's Record*, Vol. II, p. 328).

On August 29, 2012 Johnson filed his Third Motion for Reconsideration requesting the district court to reconsider its Order on Motions entered August 21, 2012 and alternatively moved the court for relief under Rule 60(b). (*Clerk's Record*, Vol. II, p. 327a). Johnson's motion was supported by and the Affidavit of Jeanne Harris. (*Clerk's Record*, Vol. II, p. 327d).

Johnson filed an amended third motion for reconsideration and alternative motion for relief on September 10, 2012 and supported the amended motion with his third affidavit. (*Clerk's Record*, Vol. II, pp. 341, 344).

Hearing before the district court on Johnson's third motion for reconsideration and alternative motion for relief was held October 9, 2012. (*Transcript of Hearing*, pp. 76-93).

The district court on October 15, 2012 entered its Order Denying in Part and Granting in Part Johnson's motion for reconsideration and motion for relief. (*Clerk's Record*, Vol. II, p. 359).

Johnson filed his Amended Notice of Appeal on October 23, 2012. (*Clerk's Record*, Vol. II, p. 370).

Meanwhile, Agrisource had circulated among counsel for all parties a stipulation for entry of amended certified judgment; counsel for the Johnsons signed the stipulation and returned it to counsel for Agrisource. (*Clerk's Record*, Vol. II, p. 376, 379-381).

#### Statement of the Facts

The following salient facts are derived from the affidavits and pleadings of record.

Agrisource, Inc., is an Idaho corporation engaged in the business of dealing in agricultural commodities. (*Clerk's Record*, Vol. I, pp. 20, 27).

For several years prior to and continuing through the first six months of 2006 Robert Johnson was an employee of Agrisource, operating an elevator Agrisource leased in Ririe, Idaho. (*Clerk's Record*, Vol I, p. 79-80).

#### Appellant's Brief - Page 6

The landlord of the elevator was B&J Elevators, Inc., a corporation owned by Johnson's father, Wydell Johnson. (*Clerk's Record*, Vol. I, pp. 79-80; Vol. II, pp. 300-303).

Agrisource terminated its lease of the Ririe elevator at the end of July 2006. (*Clerk's Record*, Vol. I, pp. 79-80).

While Johnson was an employee of Agrisource during the summer of 2006 he learned through conversations with other representatives of Agrisource that it was aware Neil Brown planned to purchase the Ririe elevator from B&J. (*Clerk's Record*, Vol. II, pp. 259-262; Vol. I, p. 78ggg).

During July 2006 representatives of Agrisource visited Wydell Johnson at the Ririe elevator. (*Clerk's Record*, Vol. II, pp. 300-303). The main purpose of Agrisource's representatives' visits was to determine how to store and transport anticipated harvested grain from local farmers on contract with Agrisource. (*Clerk's Record*, Vol. II, pp. 300-303).

During those visits with Agrisource's representatives, Wydell discussed his plan to sell the Ririe elevator to Brown. (*Clerk's Record*, Vol. II, pp. 300-303). Agrisource wanted to make arrangements to store its anticipated grain from local farmers at the elevator until it could be shipped at Agrisource's direction. (*Clerk's Record*, Vol. II, pp. 300-303). Wydell told the Agrisource representatives that they needed to contact Brown to make arrangements on storage and cost. (*Clerk's Record*, Vol. II, pp. 300-303).

During a personal visit by Agrisource's representative with Wydell in late July or early August 2006, that representative was introduced to Brown who was present at the elevator. (*Clerk's Record*, Vol. II, pp. 300-303). During that visit, Agrisource and Brown

discussed receipt and storage of grain for Agrisource at the elevator. (*Clerk's Record*, Vol. II, pp. 300-303).

In August 2006 Brown purchased the Ririe elevator. (*Clerk's Record*, Vol. I, pp. 79-80; Vol. II, pp. 300-303). By Articles of Amendment filed August 31, 2006 with a date of adoption as of August 15, 2006 Brown changed the name of his corporation from Ririe Growers Supply & Service, Inc., to Johnson Grain, Inc. (Brown's Corp.) (*Clerk's Record*, Vol. I, p. 78f).

Agrisource knew that Brown was purchasing the elevator and that Johnson would be operating the elevator for Brown. (*Clerk's Record*, Vol. I, pp. 79-80; Vol. II, pp. 300-303).

In August 2006 Brown deposited his own monies to open a business checking account for Brown's Corp. at the local Ririe Branch of the Bank of Commerce. (*Clerk's Record*, Vol. I, pp. 79-80, 110, 112a-112h, 112x). Both Brown and Johnson were signatories on that account. (*Clerk's Record*, Vol. I, pp. 79-80, 110, 112a-112h, 112x).

Johnson began in August 2006 to operate the elevator for Brown's Corp. (*Clerk's Record*, Vol. I, pp. 79-80, 110, 112a-112h).

Johnson had business forms, including scale tickets, warehouse and train car logs and grain purchase contracts, printed with the full corporate name of Brown's Corp. (*Clerk's Record*, Vol. I, pp. 80-81, 85, 110, 112a-112h, 112zz; Vol. II, pp. 327e, 344-349, 351, 354, 358).

In September 2006 Brown signed applications with the Idaho Department of Agriculture for a commodity dealer's license and seed buyer's license under the name of

Brown's Corp. (*Clerk's Record*, Vol. I, pp. 81, 86-87, 88-89, 110, 112a-112h, 112tt-112vv). Brown obtained a commodity dealer/seed buyer bond for Brown's Corp.

Beginning in August or September 2006 Jeanne Harris started working for Brown at the elevator. (*Clerk's Record*, Vol. II, pp. 327g-327d). Harris was the bookkeeper for Brown's Corp. and other business interests owned by Brown. (*Clerk's Record*, Vol. II, 327g-327d).

Harris answered the telephone for the elevator during the fall and winter of 2006. (*Clerk's Record*, Vol. II, pp. 327g-327d). She would answer the telephone by saying, "Johnson Grain." (*Clerk's Record*, Vol. II, pp. 327g-327d).

Several representative of Agrisource called when Harris was answering the telephones for the elevator. (*Clerk's Record*, Vol. II, pp. 327g-327d). Those representatives would always ask to speak with Johnson. (*Clerk's Record*, Vol. II, pp. 327g-327d).

When local farmers would bring their grain for Agrisource to the elevator, Johnson or another elevator employee would prepare a scale ticket for each load. (*Clerk's Record*, Vol. II, pp. 327g-327d, 344-349). Harris kept and maintained the scale ticket records. (*Clerk's Record*, Vol. II, pp. 327g-327d).

Harris recalled sending copies of the scale tickets together with train car logs to Agrisource for billing purposes. (*Clerk's Record*, Vol. II, pp. 327g-327d). The scale tickets and train car logs were preprinted with the name Johnson Grain, Inc. (*Clerk's Record*, Vol. II, pp. 327g-327d).

Invoices preprinted with the name Johnson Grain, Inc., were sent by Harris to Agrisource for payment of elevator services. (*Clerk's Record*, Vol. II, pp. 327g-327d, 344-349).

Following entry of judgment in favor of Agrisource, Johnson's wife while cleaning an office in the elevator discovered for the first time six original invoices from Brown's Corp. (*Clerk's Record*, Vol. II, pp. 344-349). Each of those invoices was made out to Agrisource. (*Clerk's Record*, Vol. II, pp. 344-349).

Agrisource stated in an email that it knew Johnson was agent for Brown's Corp. (Clerk's Record, Vol. II, pp. 113-114).

Agrisource paid invoices and billings by making its own adjustment on offsets and then delivering a check made payable to Johnson Grain. (*Clerk's Record*, Vol. II, pp. 327g-327d, 344-349; Vol. I, pp. 78t-78y). All payment checks from Agrisource for the time period from September through December 2006 were stamped with the endorsement stamp for Brown's Corp. bank account and deposited into that account. (*Clerk's Record*, *Clerk's Record*, Vol. II, pp. 327g-327d; Vol. I, pp. 78t-78u).

In November 2006 Agrisource contacted Johnson seeking grain contracts for 100,000 bushels of durum wheat. (*Clerk's Record*, Vol. I, pp. 79-83). Johnson explained to Agrisource that Brown's Corp. had not yet received its commodity license and could not enter into any contracts until the license was issued. (*Clerk's Record*, Vol. I, pp. 79-83).

When Brown's Corp. received its license, Johnson contacted Agrisource to explain that contracts could now be initiated. (*Clerk's Record*, Vol. I, pp. 79-83). Johnson believed

he told Agrisource that he was the agent for Brown's Corp. (*Clerk's Record*, Vol. I, pp. 79-83).

On or about December 13, 2006 Agrisource prepared on its form commodity contract a contract for 50,000 bushels of durum wheat. (*Clerk's Record*, Vol. I, pp. 79-83). Agrisource had typed in the name of "Johnson Grain" as the party to its contract. (*Clerk's Record*, Vol. I, pp. 79-83).

Johnson accepted and signed that contract as an agent for Brown's Corp. (*Clerk's Record*, Vol. I, pp. 79-83). Johnson believes he told Agrisource prior to and during that contract discussion period in November through December 2006 that he was working for Brown's Corp. (*Clerk's Record*, Vol. I, pp. 79-83).

On or about January 12, 2007 Agrisource prepared on its form commodity contract a second contract for 50,000 bushels of durum wheat. (*Clerk's Record*, Vol. I, pp. 79-83). Agrisource had typed in the name of "Johnson Grain" as the party to its contract. (*Clerk's Record*, Vol. I, pp. 79-83).

Johnson accepted and signed that second contract as an agent for Brown's Corp. (Clerk's Record, Vol. I, pp. 79-83).

To fulfill the contracts with Agrisource, Johnson in turn as agent for Brown's Corp. entered into grain purchase contracts with supplying farmers, including Wilcox & Sons, and Brown. (*Clerk's Record*, Vol. I, pp. 79-83, 91, 92). Wilcox & Son's agreed to deliver 80,000 bushels and Brown agreed to deliver 20,000 bushels. (*Clerk's Record*, Vol. I, pp. 79-83, 91,

92). Wilcox fully performed; Brown only delivered just over 5,000 bushels of wheat. (*Clerk's Record*, Vol. I, pp. 79-83, Vol. II, pp. 344-349).

Agrisource acknowledged receipt of 50,000 bushels of durum by rail and showed two checks were issued for payment of that contract: one check in October 2007 and another check in December 2007. (*Clerk's Record*, Vol. I, p. 218). That receipt fulfilled the December 2006 contract. (*Clerk's Record*, Vol. I, p. 218).

Agrisource acknowledged receipt of 34,472.13 bushels of durum by rail and showed two checks were issued for payment of that contract: one check in October 2007 and another check in December 2007. (*Clerk's Record*, Vol. I, p. 219). Accordingly, the wheat delivered was less than the bushels required in the January 2007 contract. (*Clerk's Record*, Vol. I, p. 219).

Brown failed to perform in full his grain purchase contract in 2007 resulting in Brown's Corp. breach of its contract with Agrisource. (*Clerk's Record*, Vol. I, pp. 79-83; Vol. II, pp. 344-349).

By Articles of Amendment filed December 13, 2007 with a date of adoption as of December 3, 2007 Brown changed the name of his corporation from Johnson Grain, Inc., to Neil Brown, Inc. (*Clerk's Record*, Vol. I, p. 78mmm).

Agrisource demanded performance of the January 2007 contract and ultimately reached an agreement with Brown and/or Brown's Corp. to accept delayed performance upon Brown's representation that he would deliver the durum wheat during the 2008 crop season. (*Clerk's Record*, Vol. I, pp. 79-83; Vol. II, pp. 230, 344-349). Agrisource's agreement with

Brown was in accordance with the NGFA Grain Trade Rules it ascribed to. (*Clerk's Record*, Vol. I, p. 227).

Brown again failed to perform. (*Clerk's Record*, Vol. I, pp. 79-83; Vol. II, pp. 344-349). Agrisource filed this action.

#### ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

Did the district court err as a matter of law in determining that Agrisource had no notice that Robert Johnson was an agent for Johnson Grain, Inc.?

Did the district court abuse its discretion in failing to consider the Affidavits of Jeanne Harris and Robert Johnson filed as part of Johnson's third motion to reconsider and alternative motion for relief?

#### ARGUMENT

A. The district court erred as a matter of law in determining that Agrisource had no notice that Robert Johnson was an agent for Johnson Grain, Inc.

#### Standard of Review

When reviewing a district court's summary judgment, the standard of review on appeal is the same standard as that used by the district court in ruling on the motion. Summary judgment is appropriate if "the pleadings, depositions, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law." I.R.C.P. 56(c). Disputed facts should be construed in favor of the non-moving party, and all reasonable inferences that can be drawn from the record are to be drawn in favor of the non-moving party. The appellate court exercises free review over questions of law.

Castorena v. General Electric, 149 Idaho 609, 613, 238 P.3d 209, 213 (2010).

#### Argument

In its decision denying Johnson's first motion for reconsideration, the court cited the authorities set forth below and then reached the following conclusions:

"[T]he record is undisputed that Johnson never disclosed to that Plaintiff that he was acting as an agent of 'Johnson Brothers, Inc. (sic)'

"At best, Johnson disclosed that he was acting on behalf of Neil Brown (which would have been inaccurate) or that he was acting on behalf of 'Neil Brown's company.'

"Simply asserting that the record establishes that the (sic) Johnson was acting as an agent for somebody is insufficient to preclude liability."

"Accordingly, even with the new evidence, the record does not support a claim that Johnson adequately disclosed his alleged principal and as such, Johnson is liable under the contract."

Johnson believes the court erred in two respects: 1) it reached an incorrect factual determination that the record was "undisputed that Johnson never disclosed ... that he was acting as an agent..."; and 2) it misapplied the law on agent disclosure by imposing an incorrect standard and otherwise not properly considering all elements pertaining to the question of notice.

#### First, the incorrect factual determination.

Contrary to the district court's findings on summary judgment, the record discloses the following pertinent facts regarding Johnson's disclosure of his agency.

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