Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

8-23-2013

Agrisource v. Johnson Respondent's Brief Dckt. 40340

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

communicated to AgriSource that Johnson was acting as an agent for that corporation at the time the contract at issue was entered into. There being no express authority established by Johnson, Johnson apparently is arguing that Johnson had apparent authority to act on behalf of Johnson Grain, Inc. Apparent authority cannot be established by the statements of the agent alone.

Johnson argues that Johnson's Third Motion for Reconsideration was rejected by the Court as being "untimely." This is a misstatement of the trial court's findings. The trial court did not rule that the Third Motion for Reconsideration was untimely; rather, the trial court ruled that I.R.C.P. 11(a)(2) did not apply due to the fact that the judgment entered on June 14, 2012 was a final judgment and reconsideration can only be requested of an interlocutory order. However, even if the trial court is incorrect in this determination, the filing of the Third Motion for Reconsideration and materials filed in support of the Motion was untimely and should not have been considered by the Court.

The Judgment certified as final by the trial court on June 14, 2012 is a final judgment as defined by the Idaho Rules of Civil Procedure.

If Johnson was an Agent, Johnson did not Disclose his Principal as Required by Law

As can be seen from an examination of Johnson's assertions, the facts in the record do not support the assertions made in Johnson's Brief. Rather, when one examines the actual facts that are alleged, it supports AgriSource's position that Johnson never established that he was an agent for Johnson Grain, Inc. and that if he was an agent, AgriSource was never told that Johnson was an agent for Johnson Grain, Inc. At all times material to this dispute, Johnson believed it was contracting with Johnson.

Johnson's position is that, because he claims that he told AgriSource that he was an agent or acting for someone (Neil Brown, Neil Brown's corporation, the elevator), the disclosure was sufficient to comply with Idaho law and that he should not be held personally liable for the damages in this action. This position is contrary to well settled Idaho law.

A person contracting with another as an agent is liable as a party to the contract unless he discloses, at or before the time of entering into the contract, the agency relationship and the identity of the principal. Western Seeds, Inc. v. Bartu, 109 Idaho 70, 71, 704 P.2d 974, 975 (Ct. App. 1985) (emphasis added). A principal is disclosed if, at the time of making the contract in question, the other party to it has notice that the agent is acting for a principal and of the principal's identity. General Motors Acceptance Corp. v. Turner Ins. Agency, Inc., 96 Idaho 691, 697, 535 P.2d 664, 670 (1975) (emphasis added). The statements of a purported agent alone do not create an agency relationship and do not establish the authority of the agent. Hieb v. Minnesota Farmers Union, 105 Idaho 694, 672 P.2d 572 (Ct. App. 1983). It is a basic principal that an agent who enters into a contract on behalf of a corporation, but who neither discloses his agency nor the existence of the corporation to the third party, becomes personally liable to that third party. Interlode Constructors v. Bryant, 132 Idaho 443, 447, 974 P.2d 89, 93 (Ct. App. 1999).

The *Interlode Constructors* case has similar facts to the case at hand. Bryant, the manager of a corporation, both through his personal representations and through his agent,

Pearson, dealt with Interlode as "Bryant and Associates," failing to reveal a corporate existence.

Bryant led Interlode into believing it was dealing with Bryant individually. At all times relevant,

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

Interlode was ignorant of the corporation's existence. The Court went on to hold that the District Court was correct in holding Bryant personally liable for the obligation incurred. *Interlode Constructors v. Bryant*, 132 Idaho 443 447, 974 P.2d 89, 93 (Ct. App. 1999).

The party asserting agency as a defense to personal liability on a contract bears the burden of showing that the principal was adequately disclosed. *Keller Lorenz Co. v. Ins. Assocs. Corp.*, 98 Idaho 678, 570 P.2d 1366 (1997).

The duty of the agent to disclose must also be weighed in light of the duties placed upon Johnson by the Uniform Commercial Code and the applicable grain trade rules. Idaho Code § 28-2-201(1) requires that a contract for the sale of goods in excess of \$500.00 must be evidenced by a writing sufficient to indicate that a contract for sale has been made between the parties and signed by the party against whom enforcement is sought or by his authorized agent or broker. Once a contract is reached, if it is between merchants, a writing confirming the contract is sufficient if the written confirmation is sent within a reasonable time and the party receiving it has reason to know its contents. In such cases, if there is an objection to the terms, a party must give ten (10) days written notice of objection to its contents after a written confirmation is received. I.C. § 28-2-201(2).

In this case, I.C. § 28-2-201(1) was satisfied since the contract is in the name of Johnson Grain and was signed by Johnson. Johnson admits that Johnson did not object to the terms of the contract.

The NGFA grain trade rules are even more specific. NGFA Grain Trade Rule 3 requires both the buyer and seller to send a written confirmation not later than the close of the business RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

day following the date of the trade. Upon receipt of the confirmation, the parties shall carefully check all specifications and upon finding any material differences, shall immediately notify the other party to the contract, by telephone, and confirm by written communication. If either the buyer or the seller fails to send a confirmation, the confirmation sent by the other party will be binding upon both parties, unless the confirming party has been immediately notified by the non-confirming party of any disagreement with the confirmation received. NGFA Grain Trade Rule 3(A) and (B), R Vol. I, pp. 168, 172, 226-227.

Obviously the names of the parties to the contract is a material term of the contract. If Johnson believed that the name on the contract was improper, since the stated name was not Johnson Grain, Inc., Johnson had a duty to so notify AgriSource. It is uncontroverted that Johnson did not object to any of the terms of the contract.

An analysis of the facts relied upon by Johnson in supporting his contention that he disclosed his agency with Johnson Grain, Inc. is set forth in the Statement of the Facts section of this Brief. It is clear from an analysis of the facts, including Johnson's own affidavits, that he never disclosed to AgriSource that he as was acting as an agent for Johnson Grain, Inc. This failure to disclose agency hurt AgriSource in AgriSource's attempts to recover against the other Defendants. The trial court found that since AgriSource was never advised or informed of an agency relationship between Johnson and any other entity, did not believe an agency relationship existed, and was unaware of any purported agency with Johnson Grain, Inc. until after the breach of contract, it formed part of the basis for the trial court entering summary judgment against

AgriSource in favor of Johnson Grain, Inc. R Vol. II, p. 247.

Although Johnson admits that he cannot recall ever advising AgriSource that he was the agent for Johnson Grain, Inc., he attempts to argue that he partially disclosed that agency by stating that he was the agent for Neil Brown or Neil Brown's corporation. A partially disclosed principal does not relieve the agent from liability. A person contracting with another for a partially disclosed principal is liable as a party to the contract. *Keller Lorenz Co. v. Ins. Assocs. Corp.*, 98 Idaho 678, 570 P.2d 1366 (1977); RESTATEMENT (Second) OF AGENCY § 321 (1957).

The party moving for summary judgment bears the burden of proving that no genuine issue of material fact exists. *Cramer v. Slater*, 146 Idaho 868, 873, 204 P.3d 508, 513 (2009). Once the moving party establishes the absence of a genuine issue of material fact, the burden then shifts to the non-moving party. *Kiebert v. Goss*, 144 Idaho 225, 228, 159 P.3d 862, 865 (2007). In order to survive a motion for summary judgment, the non-moving party must show that there is a triable issue. *G & M Farms v. Funk Irrigation Co.*, 119 Idaho 514, 524, 808 P.2d 851, 861 (1991). A complete failure of proof concerning an essential element of the non-moving party's case necessary renders all other facts immaterial. *McGilvray v. Farmers New World Life Ins. Co.*, 136 Idaho 39, 42, 28 P.3d 380, 383 (2001). The non-moving party's case must be anchored in something more than speculation; a mere scintilla of evidence is not enough to create a genuine issue. *Corbridge v. Clark Equip. Co.*, 112 Idaho 85, 87, 730 P.2d 960, 963 (1994).

In this case, AgriSource established the absence of a genuine issue of material fact. The burden then shifted to Johnson requiring Johnson to show that there existed a triable fact.

Johnson completely failed to prove two essentials elements of his case - that he was an agent for Johnson Grain, Inc. and that he properly disclosed that agency. By failing to prove these essential elements, all other facts were rendered immaterial.

Johnson's reliance upon decisions from mid-western states is misplaced. Idaho law is clear concerning the duty of the agent to properly disclose his principal. Even if the agent properly disclosed the principal, AgriSource could not have relied solely upon Johnson's statements; there would have to be a showing that the principal granted the agent the authority to perform the actions at issue. In this case, there is no showing by Johnson that he was the agent for Johnson Grain, Inc., there are no facts in the record indicating that Neil Brown or any other officer of Johnson Grain, Inc. gave Johnson authority to contract in the name of Johnson Grain, Inc. at the time the subject contract was entered into, and Johnson failed to object to the terms of the contract if Johnson believed that the contract should have been in the name of Johnson Grain, Inc. Pursuant to Idaho law, Johnson is personally liable to AgriSource for the damages incurred by AgriSource and summary judgment was properly entered.

The Trial Court Properly Denied Johnson's Third Motion for Reconsideration

The judgment in favor of AgriSource was certified as final on June 14, 2012. R Vol. II, pp. 288-291. On August 29, 2012 Johnson filed his Third Motion for Reconsideration and Alternative Motion for Relief. R Vol. II, pp. 327a-327c. In the Third Motion, Johnson "moves the court to reconsider its decision on summary judgment that AgriSource had no notice of RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

Robert Johnson's status as angst [sic] for Johnson Grain, Inc." R Vol. II, p. 327a. Johnson then filed an Amended Third Motion for Reconsideration which added an additional request for relief: "Further, Johnson moves the court to reconsider its Decision and Order filed September 7, 2012." R Vol. II, p. 341. Included with Johnson's Third Motion was the Affidavit of Jeanne Harris, R Vol. II, p. 327d, and, with the Amended Third Motion, the Third Affidavit of Johnson, R Vol. II, p. 344.

Contrary to Johnson's assertions, Johnson did not move the trial court to reconsider its decision on Johnson's Second Motion for Reconsideration. The Second Motion for Reconsideration was denied at hearing on the record on August 14, 2012. Tr, pp. 38-75, as reflected in that Order on Motions for Costs and Attorney's Fees filed August 21, 2012. R Vol. II, p. 314. The only "decision and order filed September 7, 2012" was that decision and order granting a motion for reconsideration filed by Neil Brown. R Vol. II, p. 332. AgriSource was not involved in that decision and order.

The trial court found that Johnson's Third Motion for Reconsideration was not permissible under I.R.C.P. 11(a)(2) and went on to hold that the Rule applies only to reconsideration of an interlocutory order and is not a vehicle for reconsideration of a final judgment. R Vol. II, p. 363.

The Idaho Supreme Court recently addressed this issue. The court held that in a case involving a dismissal pursuant to I.R.C.P. 40(c), the dismissal was "in effect a final judgment" and that therefore relief was not properly sought using I.R.C.P. 11(a)(2)(B). *Eby v. State*, 148 Idaho 731, 228 P.3d 1998 (2010).

In an earlier case, the Idaho Court of Appeals analyzed whether a motion was properly brought under Rule 11(a)(2)(B) and stated: "until a judgment has been entered or a certificate granted by the trial court pursuant to I.R.C.P. 54(b), the order dismissing DSA's counterclaim was not final and appealable" and went on to hold that the trial court should have considered a motion filed in that case as a motion to reconsider an interlocutory order and therefore properly brought pursuant I.R.C.P. 11(a)(2)(B). Although not explicitly stated, it is clear from the decision that once a final judgment is entered it is no longer interlocutory and no longer subject to reconsideration pursuant to I.R.C.P. 11(a)(2)(B). *Noreen v. Price Development Co. Ltd. Partnership*, 135 Idaho 816, 819-820, 25 P.3d 129, 132-133 (Ct. App. 2001).

In *Dunlap v. Cassia Memorial Hospital Medical Center*, 134 Idaho 233, 235-236, 999 P.2d 888, 890-891 (2000), the Idaho Supreme Court reaffirmed the principle that a summary judgment is not interlocutory once a final judgment is entered and that a motion for reconsideration of the judgment could not properly be considered.

In addition to being an improper motion for reconsideration of a final order as found by the trial court, Johnson's Third Motion for Reconsideration was untimely. The judgment was certified as final on June 14, 2012. The last day to file a motion for reconsideration was June 28, 2012. Johnson filed the Third Motion for Reconsideration on August 29, 2012 and filed the Amended Third Motion for Reconsideration on September 11, 2012.

I.R.C.P. 11(a)(2)(B) states:

A motion for reconsideration of any interlocutory orders of the trial court may be made at any time before the entry of final judgment but not later than fourteen days after the entry of the final

judgment. A motion for reconsideration of any order of the trial court made after entry of final judgment may be filed within fourteen days from the entry of such order...

At first blush, Johnson's argument is, in effect, that Johnson could continually file motions for reconsideration of orders denying motions for reconsideration and that the court would have to consider all affidavits and other evidence presented. This is contrary to the intent of the Rule. The interlocutory decision that Johnson was attempting to have the court reconsider by the filing of his motions was that Memorandum Decision and Order filed on April 6, 2012, granting summary judgment in favor of AgriSource. R Vol. II, p. 242. Pursuant to that decision a judgment in favor of AgriSource against Johnson was filed on April 17, 2012. R Vol. II, p. 252. The judgment was certified as final on June 14, 2012. R Vol. II, p. 288. An amended judgment that added an award of fees and costs was entered on August 21, 2012. R Vol. II, p. 312.

Johnson did not file his Third Motion for Reconsideration until August 29, 2012, well after certification of the judgment on June 14, 2012. It would be improper for the court to consider multiple successive motions for reconsideration filed more than fourteen days after the entry of final judgment.

Johnson argues that "the district court did not consider whether its memorandum and order denying in part and granting in part Johnson's Second Motion for Reconsideration was an order entered after final judgment that may be reconsidered upon timely motion under Rule 11(a)(2)(B)." Johnson's Brief, p. 29. This argument assumes that Johnson requested that the trial court reconsider the court's decision on Johnson's Second Motion for Reconsideration. The RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

record shows that Johnson never requested that the court reconsider its decision on Johnson's Second Motion.

In the Third Motion for Reconsideration, Johnson moved the court "to reconsider its decision on summary judgment that AgriSource had no notice of Robert Johnson's status as angst [sic] for Johnson Grain, Inc." R Vol. II, p. 327a. There is no mention in the Third Motion for Reconsideration of the court's decision denying Johnson's Second Motion for Reconsideration.

In the Amended Third Motion for Reconsideration, Johnson moved the court "to reconsider its decision and order filed September 7, 2012." R Vol. II, p. 341. Again, there is no mention of the court's decision denying Johnson's Second Motion for Reconsideration, which was denied in open court on August 14, 2012. Tr, pp. 38-75.

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